FILED

MAY 9 1996

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,278

CLERK SUPPLIENCE COURT

RONNIE JOHNSON,

Appellant,

-versus-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY

# CORRECTED

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAW OFFICES OF JOHN H. LIPINSKI MARTA BREA LIPINSKI 1455 N.W. 14 STREET MIAMI, FLORIDA 33125 (305) 324-6376

Counsel for Appellant

####

## INTRODUCTION

The appellant was the defendant and the appellee the prosecution, State of Florida, in the lower court. The parties will be referred to as they stood in the trial court. The record on appeal will be referred to by the letter "R". All emphasis is added unless otherwise indicated.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant was charged by Indictment with the crimes of First Degree Murder and Two Counts of Attempted First Degree Murder (R. 1).

The Indictment was signed by the "Vice Foreperson of the Grand Jury (R. 3).

The Defense filed a Motion to Suppress Defendant's Confessions, Admissions and Statements (R. 47), which Motion was denied (R. 49).

Following a trial jury, the Defendant was found Guilty as charged as to Counts I and II and Guilty of Aggravated Battery as to Count III (R. 284)

Upon completion of the Defendant's Sentencing Hearing, the Jury voted seven (7) to five (5) to impose the death penalty upon the Defendant (R. 286)

The Defendant was subsequently sentenced to death.

This appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At the Defendant's Motion to Suppress, the following testimony was heard:

Officer Milton Hull testified that he saw the Defendant in the general area of a drug detail surveillance in which the witness participated on March 30, 1989 (T. 235). On that night, Officer Hull also came into contact with Terrance Ison and Lee Curgil who had been arrested (T. 236). Lee Curgil was in possession of a .357 Magnumrevolver (T. 236).

Officer Hull contacted the Defendant on April 1, 1989 as the Defendant was seated on his grandmother's porch. Officer Hull told the Defendant that ... there were some homicide investigators that wanted some information, that he may (have) knowledge of some murder that took place down souther" (T. 238). Hull asked the Defendant "if he were willing to go there, I would take him there, and everything, and then I would bring him back" (T. 238-239). Hull then contacted detectives who responded to his call and picked up the Defendant (T. 240).

Gregg Smith testified that he was a homicide detective investigating the Lee Arthur Laurence homicide (T. 248) when certain people were categorized as potential witnesses, and other people were categorized as suspects in the case. He was supposed to locate and interview these people (T. 246). The Defendant and

Terrance Ison were "brought in" for questioning (T. 248). The Defendant was then turned over to Detective Borrego for questioning (T. 249).

Detective Thomas Romagui testified that he was asked by Detective Borrego to witness the signing of a Miranda form (T. 253) and that he witnessed the Defendant sign the Miranda form (T. 254).

Detective Danny Borrego testified that he was investigating the deaths of Lee Arthur Laurence and Tequila Larkins and the shooting of Marshall King (T. 258). Detective Borrego was advised that the Defendant either had information or was a suspect in the murders (T. 259).

The Defendant agreed to go with the witness; the Defendant was advised of his Miranda rights (T. 261, 263). The witness' further testimony was that the Defendant's Miranda form was signed at 7:30 P.M., and that the a formal statement was taken from the Defendant at 1:43 A.M. (T. 269). The Defendant was interviewed during the intervening six hours (T. 270).

Detective Borrego stated that he took the Defendant took on location and that the Defendant pointed out the scenes of the murdered (T. 272). The Defendant described how the shootings took place(T. 273). When the Defendant was arrested, he confessed to the killings (T. 277). The witness testified that he had obtained positive identification of the Defendant in the Larkins case (T. 285). The witness told the Defendant that Newsome was in the other room (T. 286).

Detective Borrego testified that the Defendant began to make admissions to the crimes after the first 10-15 minutes into the interview T. 287). Further, the Defendant found some errors in his written statement, which the Defendant corrected (T. 294).

The Defendant said in his statement that when "G" contacted him to commit the crime, the Defendant's instructions were to spray the store with bullets (T. 229). To aid him in spraying the store, the Defendant hired Rodney Newsome and "Boopie" (T. 233, 234). The Defendant was to "spray up, shoot it all up so the cops come investigate". (T. 231).

The three men did not make any arrangements regarding how they were going to carry out the Defendant's instructions to "spray" the store (T. 235). The trio went to "G's" house, got the guns and went to the Victim's store (T. 236). Initially, the Defendant was going to do the shooting, but Boopie said he wanted to do it, so it was decided that Boopie would do the shooting (T. 239).

The Defendant entered the Victim's store, purchased a Corona beer, and was paying for it when he heard shots T. 242). After the shots, the Defendant ran out of the store firing the gun (T. 242). He saw a man lying on the ground T. 242). The Defendant testified that he shot the gun without aiming it at anyone (T. 243). The Defendant did not shoot at the Victim (T. 244).

The Defendant testified on his own behalf that he was arrested at his house (T. 298). He was told that the police wanted to ask

him some questions (T. 298). The detective touched the Defendant on the shoulder, told the Defendant to come with him to answer some questions (T. 299). The Defendant was then taken to the police station to a room where he was questioned by Detective Borrego (T. 300). The Defendant was told that "If I would be cooperated with him, I would not get the electric chair " (T. 301).

At page 302 of the trial transcript, the following testimony was shown:

Defendant: They said they got detectives at your mother's

house, and that makes me real scared.

Mr. Badini: Why?

Defendant: That's the time when the police officers came

and kicked in the house, the wrong house, and

take her, she was asleep. I was in fear for my

family.

At page 305 of the same transcript, the following was shown:

Mr. Badini: What did they tell you about this Miranda form?

Defendant: I can't remember, but it wasn't clear, whatever

they telling me.

Mr. Badini: Did you do anything?

Defendant: Signed the papers, yes.

Mr. Badini: What about recording the statement, did she,

the court reporter, read to you the statement:

Defendant: Yes, but I was still in fear that my family--

all I wanted to do was sign the papers, and

just talk to my family.

Mr. Badini: You signed it when they told you to sign?

Defendant: Yes. I was scared because I still didn't know

what had happened to my mother and two

brothers. They had detectives at my house. I

don't know what type of punishments they were

going through. I don't know if they hurt my

family.

At page 306 of the transcript:

Mr . Badini: When was the first opportunity you had to call

your family?

Defendant: When I got through signing their papers.

Mr. Badini: Did they let you call your family from the

station, or was this after you were booked?

Defendant: They let me call them when I was there, when I

was booked.

Mr. Badini: Did you speak to your family?

Defendant: That was about 11:00 o'clock in the morning.

They picked me up at 5:30 in the afternoon, and

this was about 7:30, from 5:30 to 7:00 o'clock

I was in their custody.

From the time the Defendant was taken into custody until he was booked, the Defendant had not slept for 16 to 18 hours (T. 306).On cross examination, the Defendant testified that he was told that if he tried to run, the police would shoot him (T. 315). The Defendant also testified that he was hit with telephone books (T. 315).

The Defendant's Motion to Suppress was denied. (T. 325).

The Defendant testified that he was punched in the chest and the arms during questioning (T. 302). He stated that after they punched him, and he stated that he would not talk, the police told the Defendant that they had detectives at his mother's house(T. 302). This scared the Defendant (T. 320). "I was in fear for my family (T.302). "...they punched me, they hit me with their elbows, coming with their elbows, so I still would tell them that I didn't know about it. ...[T]hey kept coming into the room and punching me: (T. 302).

The Defendant asked to speak with him family, but he was told "To wait until after what they were doing was over with" (T. 303).

The Defendant testified that when he signed the Miranda form "I can't remember, but it wasn't clear, whatever they were telling me" (T. 305). "...I was still in fear that my family -- all I wanted to do was sign the papers, and just talk to my family "(T. 305).

When the Defendant testified about signing the sworn statement, he stated that "I was scared because I still didn't know what had happened to my other and two brothers. They had detectives at my house. I don't know what type of punishments they were going through. I don't know if they hurt my family " (305).

The Defendant was allowed to call him family when he was booked into the jail (T. 306). The Defendant was told that Rodney cooperated; the defendant heard Rodney's voice (T. 307).

On cross-examination, the Defendant stated that he was hit with telephone books (T. 315).

at trial, the following testimony was elicited:

Johnnie Lee Williams testified on behalf of the state that on March 20, 1989, he saw a Chrysler New Yorker outside his mother's house (t. 934).

The witness approached the car and saw that one person was seated in the driver's seat; the witness spoke to the driver, but driver rolled up the car window and did not respond to the witness (T. 937). As the witness walked over to Lee's Grocery Store which was nearby his mother's house, the witness heard gunfire coming from the grocery store (T. 940). The witness then saw two males running from the parking lot of the store (T. 940). Other than the fact that the males were wearing Army fatigues, the witness could not describe them (T. 941). One of the men was carrying an Uzi (T. 941). The witness saw the Chrysler pick up the two men and the car headed north (T. 941).

Juanita Meyers testified that she was working at Lee's Grocery Store on March 20, 1989 (T. 945). As the witness went to throw out trash, she heard shooting (T. 951). She testified that two men shot at the Victim (T. 952-953). The First man shot at the Victim with an Uzi (T. 952). "He shot the Victim from his head all the way down to the feet " (T. 955). The second man shot at the Victim with a revolver (T. 953).

Josias Dukes was on his way to Lee's Grocery on March 20, 1989 when he saw a man on the phone at the game room (T. 964). When

the Victim came out of the grocery and headed towards the garbage cans in the parking lot, the witness heard shots ring out (T. 974). The man at the phone fired at the Victim with the Uzi (T. 975). The Victim fell, and the second man came from within the store, and fired twice at the Victim while on the ground (T. 978). The man with the Uzi fired at the Victim lying on the ground several times (T. 989). The man carrying the Uzi also fired at the witness (T. 982). The witness identified the man carrying the Uzi from a police photo lineup(T. 987).

Bernard Williams testified that he went to Lee's Grocery on March 20, 1989 to see Juanita Meyers (T. 994). The witness saw the Victim walking from his van back to the store(T. 997). As the witness watched the Victim walk into the front of the store, he was shot in the back (T. 999. The witness saw the Victim being shot twice by a man carrying an Uzi (T. 1000) The man with the Uzi stood over the Victim and shot him again (T. 1001). The man with the Uzi came over to the witness and shot him again in the stomach (T. 1003).

Valerie Briggs testified that she worked at Lee's Grocery on March 20, 1989 (T. 1015). When the witness went to the back of the store to get Windex and paper towels, she bumped into a black male wearing Army fatigue(T. 1020). The man had a beer in his hand (T. 1020). the man gave the witness \$20.00 to pay for the beer(T. 1023). When the witness was ringing up the sale at the cash register, she heard shots (T. 1025). The man left after the

witness heard the shots ring out. The shots were different from the first shots she had heard (T. 1026).

Gerald Reicharet, Crime Scene Investigation Bureau, examined the scene at Lee's Grocery on March 21, 1989 (T. 1032). The witness found a \$20.00 bill and a beer bottle at the scene of the crime (T. 1033).

Officer Raymond Haar, Metro Dade Police Department, went to the scene of the crime on March 20, 1989 (T. 1034). The witness saw the Victim (T. 1045).

Officer George Clifton, Metro Dade Police Department, testified that on March 25, 2989 he spoke to David Ingraham because the witness had been informed that Mr. Ingraham was standing near the Chrysler on the night of the crime (T. 1055).

Kenneth Bodel testified that he works at the Turf Motel located at 7000 N. W. 27th Avenue (T. 1058). The witness testified that he had obtained a registration card for the motel stating that Termaine Tift stayed at the motel on March 20 to March 22, 1989 (T. 1061).

Officer Richard Scott, Metro Crime Scene Investigation Bureau, testified that he went to the crime scene, and that he took photos at the scene (T. 1062, 1065). The witness found 20 casings, eight (8) projectiles, and five (5) projectile fragments T. 1075). The witness saw that the Victim had been injured by gunshots to both legs, the back and the head area (T. 1078). The witness found that

the Victim had a Smith & Wesson 9 mm semi-automatic in his waistband (T. 1080). The witness collected the Victim's clothes (T. 1084).

Steven Reynolds testified that on March 30, 1989, the

Defendant was at Scott Projects. The Defendant gave the witness
a .357 magnum (T. 1089). The witness was arrested with that gun
on the night of March 30, 1989 (T. 1093). While he was in jail,
the witness received a telephone call from the Defendant (T.
1092). The Defendant was also arrested on the same night as was the
witness. (T. 1092). The Defendant told the witness that "If I
have any problem, call him ". (T. 10923).

The Defendant told the witness that the gun was involved in a murder (T. 1094). The Defendant signed the note that he sent to the witness "Ronnie Boo" (T. 1094). According to the witness, the gun he possessed when he was arrested had been involved in a murder (T. 1094). The witness identified the Defendant as the man who had given him the .357 magnum (T. 1096). The witness saw a man named David carrying an Uzi with the Defendant on the night of the crime (T. 1097).

Officer Michael Owens, Metro Dade Police Department, testified that he arrested Reynolds on March 30, 1989 at Scott Projects (T. 1103). Reynolds was carrying a gun (T. 1104).

Officer Kim Haney, Metro Dade Crime Scene Investigation Bureau, arrived at 2245 N. W. 71st Terrace and found an Uzi in the bedroom of the apartment she examined (T. 1108).

Detective Mike Byrd, Metro Dade Investigation, impounded some clothing at that location on April 6, 1989 (T. 1115).

Termaine Tift testified that he knows Rodney Newsome and the Defendant (T. 1119). The witness saw a man named Bob in March, 1989. He saw Bob at Shirley Newsome's house with the Defendant and Rodney Newsome (T. 1125). The witness took Shirley Newsome to the store (T. 1125). The Defendant told the witness that Bob was his partner (T. 1126). One night in March, 1989, Bob asked the witness if he wanted to make some money "killing an old pop and the son" (T. 1133).

When the Defendant, Rodney and David left the area, the three men left in the Chrysler New Yorker (T. 1134). The men went into Ronnie Boo's house; after they came out of the house, Ronnie Boo had money (T. 1136). The witness then took the Defendant and Rodney to the motel to register them (T. 1137).

Dr. Dubruskey, a veterinary doctor, testified that he removed a bullet from a pit bull(T. 1155).

Dennis Moss testified that he knew the Victim (T. 1150. The witness identified the Victim from pictures (T. 1159).

Mabel Gonzalez testified that she works for Garcia National Guns (T. 1161). She testified that Valerie Urbez purchased an Uzi (T. 1165).

Enrique Cuxart testified that he is a driver for the Humane Society (T. 1165). The witness took the wounded pit bull to the Humane Society for care to its wound (T. 1165).

Detective Rex Remley, Metro Dade Police Department, testified that he went to the crime scene T. 1170). He had the wounded dog removed and taken to the Humane Society (T. 1171). A projectile taken from the dog was given to the witness (T. 1171). The witness contacted the Defendant and asked him to come to the police station (T. 1174). Later that same day, the witness came in contact with Steven Reynolds (T. 1175). Steven Reynolds gave the witness a piece of paper which contained writing (T. 1175). The witness showed Steven Reynolds a photo lineup and Reynolds identified the Defendant (T. 1177).

Gary Dewal testified that in March, 1989, he was selling drugs in Perrine (T. 1181). The witness knew Bobbie Lee Robinson and sold drugs with him (T. 1182). The witness stated that Bobbie Lee Robinson had an Uzi (T. 1183). Bobbie Lee told the witness that he gave the Uzi to the Defendant (t. 1185). According to the witness, Bobbie Lee Robinson believed that the Victim had had Bobbie Lee's brother killed the previous year (T. 1198).

James Carr, Metro Dade Firearms Examiner, testified that in his that in his opinion the bullet he examined was fired from a .357 magnum (T. 1216). The witness stated that 20 casings were fired from the Uzi (T. 1222). The bullet fragments taken to the Medical Examiner's Office were fired from the Uzi (T. 1226).

Detective Sal Garrafallo, Metro Dade Police Department, testified that he was the lead detective on the case (T. 1245).

The witness met Rodney and found the Uzi at Rodney"s house (T.1247). The Uzi was registered to Bobbie Lee Robinson's wife (T. 1251).

Milton Hall, Metro Dade Police Department, testified that he asked the Defendant to talk to the detectives (T. 1254). The Defendant agreed to go with he detectives and got in the car with them (T. 1256).

Detective Daniel Borrego, Metro Dade Police Homicide Detective, testified that he met with the Defendant on April 1, 1989 (T. 1260). He took the Defendant to the police station (T. 1262). The witness gave the Defendant his Miranda rights (T. 1264). He told the Defendant that the Defendant was a suspect in the Victim's murder (T. 1264). The Defendant confessed to the murder (T. 1265). The Defendant told the witness that he knew Bobbie Lee Robinson (T. 1271). The Defendant told the witness that he was hired by "G" to spray the store (T. 1272). The witness stated that the Defendant told the witness that Rodney and David were with him (T. 1273). The witness was told by the Defendant that the Defendant had a .357 magnum and that David had an Uzi (T. 1279). The Defendant's statement made to the witness was read at this time (T. 1282). Detective Borrego took the Defendant to the location of the crime (T. 1308).

The Defendant pointed out everything for the witness (T. 1308). Gary Dewal was the "G" who hired the Defendant to commit the crime (T. 1313). The Defendant stated that Gary Dewal was "G" (T. 1316). The Defendant told the witness that he was firing his

gun as he ran because he wanted to get away (T. 1318).

Michael Fisten, Metro Dade Police Department, testified that he went to the Defendant's mother's house (T. 1326). The Defendant's mother consented to the search (T. 1327). The witness impounded some clothes (T. 1327).

Dr. Roger Middleman, Medical Examiner for Dade County, testified that he performed the autopsy on the Victim (T. 1335). The witness recovered fragments and projectiles from the Victim (T. 1353). The Victim died from multiple gunshot wounds (T. 1356).

The Defendant's motion to have the jury instructed on third degree felony murder were denied (T. 1361-2).

On May 19, 1992, a hearing regarding juror misconduct was held. Mr. David Finger testified that he was seated at a table in the courthouse cafeteria with other attorneys when the group was approached by one of the jurors sitting in on the instant case. The juror inquired regarding how much time a defendant would spend incarcerated on a life sentence. One of the attorneys present answered the juror's question. The juror was dismissed from the panel.

Upon further questioning, it was discovered that some of the jurors discussed the names of the various defendants due to stated confusion about their names. Defendant's Motion to Strike and Motion for Mistrial were denied. (T. 1385). A third juror testified that he and another juror had discussed that the

Defendant had "admitted his guilt with white paper". (T.1388).

Defendant's Motion to Strike and Motion for Mistrial were denied (T.1399).

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