IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,278

RONNIE JOHNSON,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

FARIBA N. KOMEILY

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0375934 Office of Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 444 Brickell Ave., Suite 950 Post Office Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441

FILED

STID J. WHITE

SEP 24 1996

CLEEPK.

SUPREME COURT

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

> It was improper for this juror to talk about the case before deliberations began and the juror may have been guilty of contempt of court for doing so. That misconduct does not warrant a new trial or a juror interview by itself. However, if the juror was imparting information from outside the trial evidence then a new trial may be warranted,

> Therefore, an interview is necessary here to determine whether the opinion expressed by the offending juror was merely his own based upon what he heard from the trial or whether he said it came from knowledge he gained from outside sources. More precisely the question is what impression his statements made upon the other jurors--were they influenced by his comments in the belief the comments were based upon extrinsic matters. If so, then perhaps the jury was significantly tainted. If not, then all's well. . . .

<u>Brooks.</u> 510 So. 2d at 1220-21. <u>See algo</u>, <u>Grooms v. Wainwright</u>, 610 F. 2d 344, 347-48 (5th Cir.), cert. <u>denied</u>, 445 U.S. 953, 100 S.Ct. 1605, 63 L.Ed. 2d 789 (1980) (no abuse of discretion in the trial court's denial of a motion for a new'trial where **a** juror remarked that, "as far as I'm concerned, [from] what I heard already he's guilty." The Court reasoned that the comment, made at the end of the prosecution's case, did not reflect, "serious prejudice, but only an objective evaluation of the evidence presented to date in the trial.").⁹

In the present **case** it is clear that the discussions Juror Gomez had with the other jurors, involved only those matters which were properly heard at trial., There was no contention that any juror who served in this cause was exposed to or influenced by any extrinsic matter. Moreover, the jurors who discussed the case agreed that they had to have an open mind and wait until all the evidence was presented. The record as detailed previously, clearly reflects that there were no premature decisions by any juror.

⁹ The Appellant's reliance upon <u>Russ</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Durano v</u>. <u>State</u>, 262 So. 2d 733 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972) is unwarranted, as both of these cases involved situations when either the jurors had personal knowledge of evidence not presented at trial, or had been in contact with third parties and discussed the case.

Indeed, the jurors herein deliberated for more than eleven hours, and convicted the defendant of a lesser included offense on the third count. Finally, none of the evidence commented upon was dispositive of any contested issues. In the instant case there was no question that the defendant had committed the crimes, the issue was the degree of the offenses. The medical examiner's testimony with respect to the cause of death was undisputed, did not resolve any claims as to the degree of the homicide, and had no bearing on the attempted murder counts. Likewise, discussions as to the confession were not prejudicial, as the confessions did not resolve the degree of the homicide either. Finally, the fact that the defendant as also known as "Boo," was undisputed and did not resolve any issues.¹⁰

The Appellant has thus not shown that the conduct by some of the jurors in prematurely discussing some aspects of the case was potentially prejudicial. The State would note that the instant case reflects even less prejudice than that noted in <u>Amazon</u>. In that case, one juror, after having been exposed to extrinsic matter ~ a newscast of an expert's testimony at trial commented

¹⁰ Indeed, the indictment herein refers to the defendant as Ronnie "Boo" Johnson. (R. 1).

to another juror that the testimony of the expert had been This Court held that such conduct was "impressive". not prejudicial and did not warrant a mistrial, This Court noted that the expert in question was "an important state witness", a metallurgist, whose testimony tended to show that defendant had taken a knife to the scene of the crime, thus buttressing the State's case for premeditation, <u>Amazon</u>, **487 so.** 2d at 16. The defendant had testified that he had grabbed the knife from the scene, and that the murders were thus second degree killings. Id. This Court noted that whether the defendant had brought the knife or picked it up at the scene, was not dispositive of his state of mind at the moment of the killings. Thus, the "connection between the metallurgist's testimony and the question of first or second degree murder is simply too remote," to conclude a "substantial impact on the outcome." Id. This Court also held that the juror's "impressive" comment did not reflect a premature opinion about the case.

The premature discussion of nondispositive aspects of the instant case, without more, was thus not grounds to grant a new trial. The defendant failed to meet his burden, and as such, the State submits that his motion for new trial was properly denied.

<u>Amazon; Brooks;</u> Lazerlee; Grooms v. Wainwrisht, supra; ased s o Doyle v. <u>State</u>, 460 So. 2d 353, 356-357 (Fla. 1984) (trial court did not err in denying motion for mistrial where juror said to defense counsel, "Good luck, you're going to need it."); Rembert v. State, 445 So, 2d 337, 339 (Fla. 1984) (trial court did not err in denying motion for new trial where jurors' deliberations on guilt included premature deliberations on the penalty); Hooker v. State, 497 So. 2d 982, 984 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986)(trial court not required to conduct inquiry of jurors after one juror commented to another juror about facts of the case.); United States v. Harris, 908 F. 2d 728, 734 (11th Cir. 1990) (jurors' remarks that, "these guys sitting across from us think they're going to get off on this," and, comment to a government witness to, "do it to him good," although reflecting, "some conclusion adverse to the defendants," did "not suggest serious jury contamination").

IV.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE DEFENDANT KNOWINGLY CREATED A GREAT RISK OF DEATH TO **MANY** PERSONS.

The Appellant contends that the trial court erroneously found that the defendant had knowingly created a great risk of death to many persons. This claim is without merit, as the trial court's

findings were both supported by the record, and in accordance with this Court's precedents.

The above aggravating factor applies when the defendant puts at least four people, in addition to the victim, in immediate and present risk of death by firing a gun in the area or direction of said people. <u>See</u>, <u>Fitzpatrick v. State</u>, 437 so. 2d 1072 (Fla. 1983), habeas corpus granted on other grounds, 490 So. 2d 938 (Fla. 1986) (factor upheld when defendant engaged in a gun battle with two police officers, one of whom was the murder victim, in the presence of three hostages); <u>Suarez v. State</u>, 481 So. 2d 1201 (Fla. 1985) (firing a gun during the course of flight, in the area of four officers, defendant's accomplices, and a migrant labor camp, constitutes a great risk of death).

The Appellant contends that he only shot at the victim, and, into the front of the store, at a time when it was occupied by one employee, Ms. Briggs. See, Brief of Appellant at pp. 36-39, The Appellant thus argues that the requirement of at least four people at risk has not been satisfied. The Appellant also argues that since he fired at the front of the store while Ms. Briggs was under the counter, there was insufficient probability of any risk of

death. The evidence relied upon by the Appellant, however, is not supported by the record.

The record herein reflects that the defendant, by his own recorded confession, orchestrated a scheme to "spray up the store", to "shoot it all up", with a submachine gun, an Uzi, to give the appearance of a drug-related shoot-out. (T. 1287-89). Again, by his own admission, he knew in advance not only the victim, but other employees would be present at the store. (T. 1289). Once at the scene, in addition to having been aware of the presence of the victim and the employees, the defendant **also saw** both customers Williams (T. 1301) and Dukes. (T. 978-83). The defendant nonetheless continued to direct codefendant Ingraham, who carried the submachine gun, to utilize that weapon, "to make sure he is dead." (T. 979-83). Within seconds, while the defendant was looking on, at least 7 to 10 rounds were fired in the direction of customer Dukes. Id.

Moreover, the defendant, contrary to the contention herein, did not limit his own shooting towards the victim and towards the front of the store. The defendant himself was also shooting across the parking lot to the fenced perimeter where customer Williams was

untying his bicycle and dog. A bullet from the defendant's revolver was recovered from the body of Mr. Williams' dog, which was being used as a shield by that customer at the fenced area, after the first rally of shots from the Uzi. (T. 999-1000; 1002-3; 1008-9; 1154-55; 1165-72; 1215-20). Ms. Meyers, the employee who was also out in the parking lot, in between victim Lawrence and Williams, escaped injury by lying flat on the ground. (T. 951-56). Finally, with respect to the shooting into the store itself, the evidence reflects that the bullets penetrated and broke the front glass door to the store. (T. 1076). At least one projectile penetrated inside and was retrieved from a food shelf inside the store, next to the counter where Ms. Briggs had been crouching. (T. 1082-83; R. 172-76). Ms. Briggs testified that the counter, in the area where she was crouching, was made of glass. (T. 1025-26). She crawled to the back of the store after having heard the second rally of the shots from the revolver, by the defendant. Id.

In light of the foregoing evidence, the trial judge's factual findings, that at least four $(4)^{11}$ people, aside from the victim,

¹¹ The State would note that there was at least one other bystander, John Williams, within 100 feet of the shoot-out. (T. 940-41).

were placed in immediate and present danger, is thus well supported by the record. The trial judge's findings are as follows:

GREAT RISK OF DEATH TO MANY PERSONS

prior to the shooting outside Mr. Just Lawrence's grocery store, Juanita Meyers a store employee, had gone outside to take out the trash. Valerie Bridges, another employee, remained inside the store. Josias Dukes was making a phone call from an outside pay phone and Bernard Williams was in the area with his dog. The Defendant was inside the store and Ingraham was outside. When Mr. Lawrence stepped outside his store, Ingraham opened on him with his UZI. The Defendant came outside and opened fire. Several shots went through store window where Ms. Bridges the was, Several shots were fired at Josias Dukes who managed to escape injury. Bernard Williams sustained serious gunshot wound but survived. Ms. Meyers lay flat on the ground and managed to avoid drawing fire.

Besides Mr. Lawrence, the lives of four people were placed in peril because of the murderous acts of the Defendant.

(2SR. 2-3). The above findings are also in accordance with the precedents from this Court. <u>Fitzpatrick</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Suarez</u>, supra.

The defendant's reliance upon <u>Kamsff v. State</u>, 371 So. 2d 1007 (Fla. 1979); <u>White v. State</u>, 403 So. 2d 331 (Fla. 1980); <u>Bello v.</u> <u>State</u>, 547 so. 2d 914 (Fla. 1989); <u>Alvin v. State</u>, 548 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 1989); <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 490 So. 2d 943 (Fla. 1986); and <u>Diaz</u> <u>v. State</u>, 513 so. 2d 1045 (Fla. 1987), is unwarranted. None of

said cases involved a situation such as the instant case, where there was immediate risk of harm to the murder victim, in addition to more than three (3) other people. See, Kampff, supra (the defendant shot his wife in the presence of two other people); <u>White, supra (the victims had each been shot at close range in the</u> back of the head, and only two other people had been present on the premises; no shots had been fired at the direction of the latter two people); Diaz, supra (the defendant had fired a single shot in the air, towards the ceiling, and over the head of one person); Bello, 547 so. 2d at 917 (the defendant's actions, "created a high probability of death to at most only three people besides the victim. The remaining people considered by the trial court to have been put at risk were too far away, separated by several walls, or out of the line of fire."); Alvin, susra (a total of four (4) people, <u>including</u> the murder victim, were present in the vicinity of the shooting and in the line of fire); Lucas, supra (qun battle involved only the victim and two of her friends).

Likewise, the Appellant's reliance upon <u>Williams v. State</u>, 574 So. 2d 136 (Fla. 1991); <u>Francois v. State</u>, 407 So. 2d 885 (Fla 1982) ; <u>Lusk v. State</u>, 446 So. 2d 1038 (Fla. 1984); <u>Jackson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 599 so. 2d 103 (Fla. 1992); and <u>Coney v. State</u>, a653 So. 2d

1009 (Fla. 1995), is also unwarranted. All of said cases involve situations where the findings as to the probability of great risk of death rested upon mere speculation. See, Williams, 574 So. 2d at 138 (bank guard was shot in the chest. While other customers were present in the bank, "there was no evidence of indiscriminate shooting in the direction of bank customers, but only of an intent to kill the bank guard."); Francois, supra (the capital murder victims had all been shot at point blank range inside a house, and the trial judge speculated as to what may have occurred if other persons had gone to the house); Lusk, supra_ (the defendant attacked one victim, with a knife, inside a prison cafeteria; the trial court's speculation as to what could have occurred, did not establish high risk of death); Jackson, 599 So. 2d at 108 (the fact that defendant left an automobile aflame, which "might have caused an explosion which might have killed those responding to the fire" was insufficient possibility of great risk); Coney, 653 So. 2d at 1015 (no high probability of great risk, where there was a "relatively small" fire, which "was contained within a single cell, was set in an "area under constant surveillance, and was easily extinguished within seconds with several puffs from a fire extinguisher."). In contrast to the above factual scenarios, the instant case involves indiscriminate shooting by multiple weapons,

including a submachine gun, in the direction and area of at least four (4) bystanders, some of whom were in fact injured while others miraculously escaped death.

Assuming, arguendo, that the aggravator herein was erroneously found, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt . The trial judge in the instant case found three (3) other aggravating factors, including the weighty aggravator of two (2) prior murderfor-hire ploys, within a span of weeks, where one victim had miraculously survived multiple shots, and the other victim had died. The trial judge specifically stated that the minimal mitigation herein, that defendant was loving and caring towards his family members, was "overwhelmingly outweighed" by the aggravating circumstances. (2SR. 5-6). Any error was thus harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Coney, 653 So. 2d at 1015 ("there is no reasonable possibility this error [finding great risk of death1 affected the death sentence where four strong aggravating factors remain and the court specifically stated in its sentencing order that 'there are more than sufficient aggravating circumstances proven beyond a reasonable doubt to justify the imposition of the death penalty'. The error was harmless.").

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY SENTENCING THE DEFENDANT TO THE DEATH PENALTY, WHERE TWO OTHER LESS CULPABLE CODEFENDANTS RECEIVED LESSER SENTENCES.

ν.

"When a codefendant (or coconspirator) is equally as culpable or more culpable than the defendant, disparate treatment of the codefendant render the defendant's punishment may disproportionate." Larzelere v, State, 676 So. 2d 394, 406 (Fla. The Appellant contends that co-defendant Ingraham, who 1996). carried the Uzi at the time of the crimes herein, and was sentenced to life, based upon a jury recommendation of life at a separate trial, was equally culpable as the defendant. According to the Appellant, this is because both the defendant and Ingraham had shot at victim Lawrence, but there was no evidence as to which shots killed him. The Appellee would first note that no such argument was ever presented in the court below, and as such has not been preserved for review.

Moreover, this claim is without merit. First, even in a situation where none of the other participants are sentenced to death and where one of these participants is, "also a triggerman," there is no error in sentencing only one defendant to death, when the evidence supports the sentencing judge's conclusion that the

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